Supreme Court No. S275578

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re DEZI C., et al.,)	2nd Civ. No. B317935
Persons Coming Under the)	
Juvenile Court Law.)	
_____)	
LOS ANGELES COUNTY)	
DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN)	
AND FAMILY SERVICES,)	Los Angeles County
Petitioner and Respondent,)	Superior Court Case
v.)	No. 19CCJP08030A-B
ANGELICA A.,)	
Defendant and Appellant.)	
_____)	

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Appeal from an Order of the Juvenile Court
State of California, County of Los Angeles

Hon. Robin R. Kesler, Judge Pro Tempore

*Karen J. Dodd, Esq. #146661
John L. Dodd, Esq. #126729
17621 Irvine Blvd., Ste 200, Tustin, CA 92780

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. What constitutes “reversible” error when the child welfare agency fails to make the statutorily required inquiry concerning the child’s potential Indian ancestry?

INTRODUCTION

When a child welfare agency fails to make the statutorily-required inquiry concerning the child’s potential Indian ancestry, that error should be reversible per se. Welfare and Institutions Code, section 224.2, subdivision (b),¹ requires that, when the agency takes a child into temporary custody, it must ask the child, parents, legal guardian, Indian custodian, *extended family members*, others who have an interest in the child, and the reporting party whether the child is or may be an Indian child. This case presents the question of the proper prejudice analysis when the court and social services agency fail to carry out their duty of inquiry.

Applying a lesser standard ignores the remedial purpose of the Indian Child Welfare Act (“ICWA”) (25 U.S.C. § 1901 et seq.) and the revised California statutes, essentially insulating “failure to inquire” error from review. A lesser standard also is inappropriate because the inquiry is the prerequisite to ensuring notice to an Indian tribe guaranteed by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. “Failure to inquire” is structural error, i.e., error in the process itself, not an error occurring during the hearing. Per se reversal is required.

\\

\\

\\

¹ All statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Juvenile Court Granted Los Angeles County Department of Children and Family Services' ("DCFS") Application Authorizing Removal; DCFS Filed Petitions, and the Children Were Detained.

1. Petition and Detention Report.

On December 17, 2019, DCFS filed section 300 petitions, alleging the children came within section 300, subdivisions (a) and (b)(1), because their parents, Angelica A. and Luis C., had a history of domestic violence in the presence of the children; Luis failed to protect the children by allowing Angelica to reside in the home; and the parents had a history of substance abuse and currently were users of methamphetamine. (1CT 10, 13-15, 19, 22-24.)

Attached to the petitions were the ICWA-010(a) forms indicating an inquiry had been made. (1CT 16, 25.) The "1. f." box was checked: "[t]he child has no known Indian ancestry." (*Ibid.*) The forms did not indicate to whom the worker had spoken or the date of this inquiry.

The detention report filed on December 17, 2019, noted: "The Indian Child Welfare Act does not apply. Mother and father denied Indian ancestry." (1CT 29.)

2. Detention Hearing.

On December 18, 2019, the parents attended the detention hearing; also present were a paternal aunt and paternal cousin. (1RT 6.) The court found Luis to be a presumed father. (1CT 120, 125; 1RT 2-3.)

At the detention hearing, the parents filed ICWA 020

forms. (1CT 114-116, 120, 125.) The court stated, "And I have your ICWA-020 forms indicating no American Indian heritage. (1RT 3.) [¶] Is that accurate? You have no American Indian heritage?" (Ibid.) Mother responded, "Yes, I don't. (Ibid.) The court asked father, who responded, "No." (Ibid.) The court stated: "This court finds this is not an I.C.W.A. case." (Ibid.) The minute order for the December 18, 2019, hearing noted:

The Court does not have a reason to know that this is an Indian Child, as defined under the ICWA, and does not order notice to any tribe or BIA. Parents are to keep the Department, their Attorney and the Court aware of any new information relating to possible ICWA status. ICWA-020, the Parental Notification of Indian Status is signed and filed.

(1CT 120, 125.)

Without providing an explanation, the court ordered the parents provide DCFS with the name, address, and any other identifying information for maternal and paternal relatives. (1RT 4.) Mother's counsel requested mother's father, Pablo A., be assessed as mother's visitation monitor. (Ibid.) Father's counsel requested father's sister, Susie C., and his cousin, Berenize, be assessed as visitation monitors. (Ibid.) Mother's counsel requested the court authorize visits for the maternal grandparents. (1RT 5.) The court ordered DCFS to assess the maternal and paternal relatives as soon as possible. (Ibid.)

The court found a prima facie case for the detaining the children existed. (1RT 5-6; 1CT 121, 126.) It ordered DCFS to provide reunification services and monitored visits. (Ibid.)

\\

B. At the February 19, 2020, Jurisdiction/ Disposition Hearing, the Court Found the Allegations True, Adjudged the Children Dependents, and Ordered Family Reunification Services.

The jurisdiction/disposition report filed February 4, 2020, indicated

on 1/18/19, "the Court ordered it does not have a reason to know that this in an Indian Child, as defined under ICWA, and does not order notice to any tribe or the BIA. ¶ On 1/29/20, mother reported that she does not have any Native American heritage.

(1CT 139.)

On February 19, 2020, the parents were not present at the jurisdiction hearing, but were represented by counsel. (2RT 1.) The maternal grandparents were present. (*Ibid.*) The court struck the subdivision (a) allegation (2RT 4; 1CT 192, 196), but found the subdivision (b)(1) allegations true and adjudged the children dependents. (2RT 5, 7; 1CT 191-192, 195-196.) It ordered DCFS assess the maternal grandparents for visits and/or overnight visits. (2RT 6, 9.) It ordered family reunification services for the parents. (2RT 7-8; 1CT 131-132.)

C. At the Six-Month Review Hearing, the Court Terminated the Parents' Reunification Services.

Neither parent was present at the August 26, 2020, six-month review hearing. (3RT 1.) The court terminated reunification services. (3RT 5.)

The August 7, 2020, status review report, the December 2, 2020, section 366.26 report; the February 10, 2021, Status Review Report; and the June 28, 2021, Interim Review Report filed on June 28, 2012; reported: "On 12/18/2019, the Court found that

the Indian Child Welfare Act does not apply regarding children Dezi [.] and Joshua [.]" (2CT 380, 529, 3CT 670, 4CT 900.)

D. On January 18, 2022, the Court Terminated Parental Rights.

After several continuances (2CT 573, 3CT 788, 4CT 914, 1010) on January 18, 2022, the court held a section 366.26 selection and implementation hearing. (5RT 1.) Mother was present via webex. (5RT 2.) The court found, by clear and convincing evidence, the children were adoptable, terminating the parents' parental rights, finding the "(C)(1)(b)(1)" exception did not apply. (5RT 5-7.) ICWA was not mentioned. (5RT 1-7.)

E. Mother Timely Filed a Notice of Appeal.

On January 18, 2022, mother's counsel timely filed a notice of appeal. (4CT 1096-1097.)

F. Opinion and Petitions For Rehearing and Review.

On June 14, 2022, the Court of Appeal filed its published opinion. Appellant timely petitioned for rehearing on June 27, 2022. The Court of Appeal denied rehearing on June 28, 2022, but modified the opinion. On July 19, 2022, appellant timely filed a petition for review, which this Court granted on September 21, 2022.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Circumstances Surrounding DCFS' Decision This Family Needed Court Intervention.

1. The Family.

Mother, father, Dezi C. (born 2016) and Joshua C. (born 2018) resided together in Los Angeles, in the same apartment

with the paternal grandparents, Teresa and Luis, Sr. (1CT 28, 36.) The maternal grandparents, Yara A. and Pablo A., did not reside together, but lived locally. (1CT 32, 147; 1RT 4.) Also, mother has two brothers. (1CT 34.) Luis has one sister, Susie C., and a cousin, Berenize C. (1RT 4.)

2. The November 6, 2019, Referral.

On November 6, 2019, mother and father were involved in a physical altercation outside their apartment building. (1CT 30.) The paternal grandmother reported the parents argued; mother was violent and aggressive and behaved erratically by talking to herself and drinking alcohol daily. (1CT 31, 32.) She also reported mother had been arrested recently for physically attacking the maternal grandmother. (*Ibid.*) The parents agreed to drug test; mother's results were positive for amphetamine/methamphetamine. (1CT 37.) Father had been unable to test due to lack of identification. (*Ibid.*)

B. Additional Facts Concerning Adjudging the Children Dependents. (December 18, 2019-February 18, 2020.)

The children continued to reside with the paternal grandparents. (1CT 137.) The parents were homeless, residing in their car. (1CT 138.) Both parents had a criminal history. (1CT 141, 2CT 382-385.) Mother admitted the parents had a history of domestic violence. (1CT 143.) Mother began using methamphetamine when she 19 years old. (*Ibid.*) She began using daily after Joshua was born. (1CT 144.) DCFS recommended a full drug and alcohol program with testing and after care. (1CT 151.)

C. Parents' Participation in Case Plan. (February 19, 2020-August 26, 2020.)

The children remained placed with the paternal grandparents. (1CT 199; 2CT 378.) Mother and father remained homeless, living in their car. (1CT 199; 2CT 386.) The parents failed to participate in their case plan components, and testing positive for methamphetamine. (1CT 199; 2CT 391.) Mother remained in contact with her children, mostly by virtual visits due to the pandemic. (1CT 386.) Her mother, Yara A., supervised the weekly visits. (2CT 397, 533, 3CT 676, 4CT 976.)

D. Termination of Parental Rights. (August 27, 2020-January 18, 2022).

Dezi appeared to be on track developmentally. (2CT 531.) Joshua showed signs of fine motor delays and speech delays. (2CT 532.) By July 13, 2021, he was doing very well in therapy and would soon be done with services. (4CT 903.) Neither child required mental health services. (2CT 531-532, 3CT 674-675.) The paternal grandparents were willing to adopt the children. (2CT 533, 534, 3CT 675, 778, 782, 4CT 904, 975, 1006.)

\\

\\

\\

DISCUSSION

I. ICWA: Background and Error in This Case.

A. Introduction.

The agency, DCFS, and the juvenile court failed to comply with their broad duties of inquiry under the ICWA. DCFS and the juvenile court had an affirmative and continuing duty to inquire whether the minor was an Indian child. DCFS' initial inquiry, required under section 224.2, was inadequate as it failed to ask mother's and father's extended family members about possible Indian ancestry. Because the inquiry was inadequate, there is no substantial evidence to support the juvenile court's finding and order ICWA did not apply.

B. Background.

1. **Congress Enacted the ICWA to Cure the Abusive Child Welfare Practices That Caused Large Numbers of Indian Children to be Separated From Their Families and Tribes Through Adoption and Foster Care Placement. ICWA Is Intended to Ensure the Rights of Indian Children and Indian Tribes Are Protected in Dependency Proceedings.**

Congress enacted the ICWA in 1978 to cure "abusive child welfare practices that resulted in separation of large numbers of Indian children from their families and tribes through adoption or foster care placement, usually in non-Indian homes."

(Mississippi Choctaw Indian Band v. Holyfield (1989) 490 U.S. 30, 32, [109 S.Ct. 1597, 104 L.Ed.2nd 29].) ICWA's purpose is "to protect the best interests of Indian children and to promote the

stability and security of Indian tribes and families (25 U.S.C. § 1902; see *In re Isaiah W.* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 1, 7-8.) “The ICWA presumes it is in the best interests of the child to retain tribal ties and cultural heritage and in the interest of the tribe to preserve its future generations, a most important resource.” (*In re Desiree F.* (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 460, 469; *In re H.G.* (2015) 234 Cal.App.4th 906, 908-909.)

25 U.S.C., section 1911 provides a tribe may intervene in state court dependency proceedings. (25 U.S.C. § 1911(c).) Notice to the tribe provides it the opportunity to exercise its right to intervene. (*In re Junious M.* (1983) 144 Cal.App.3d 786, 790-791.) “ICWA’s notice requirements serve two purposes. First, they facilitate a determination of whether the child is an Indian child under ICWA.” (*In re Isaiah W., supra*, 1 Cal.5th at p. 8.) Second, “ICWA notice ensures that an Indian tribe is aware of its right to intervene in or, where appropriate, exercise jurisdiction over a child custody proceeding involving an Indian child. (*Ibid.*, citing 25 U.S.C. § 1911(c).)

2. For 25 Years, California Courts and County Agencies Failed to Consistently Comply with the ICWA Mandates. In 2006, the Legislature Codified ICWA’s Requirement by Amending and Adding Sections to the Welfare and Institutions Code Aimed at Alleviating the Problem.

In the 25 years following the passage of the ICWA, California courts and county agencies inconsistently applied various Rules of Court, case law and BIA Guidelines in

dependency cases. (See *In re K.H.* (2022) 84 Cal.App.5th 566, 595.) Hoping to alleviate the problem and increase compliance with ICWA, the Legislature enacted Senate Bill 678, in 2006, affirming the ICWA's purpose and amending and adding sections to the Welfare and Institutions Code relating to Indian children, which became operative January 1, 2007. (Sen. Bill No. 678 (2005-2006 Reg. Sess.) This legislation affirmed the court and the child welfare department have "an affirmative and continuing duty" to inquire about a child's Indian status when a section 300 petition is filed. (Former Welf. & Inst. Code, § 224.3, subd. (a); *In re M.R.* (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th 886, 904.)

The legislation required the agency to interview extended family members and gather information about lineal ancestors if circumstances indicated the child may be an Indian child. (Former Welf. & Inst. Code, § 224.3, subd. (c).) If, while the dependency case was ongoing, information came to light suggesting a child may be an Indian child, the court and agency were required to undertake a meaningful investigation regarding Indian heritage, and, if appropriate, provide notice to the tribes. (*In re I.B.* (2015) 239 Cal.App.4th 367, 377; *In re Michael V.* (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 225, 235-236.)

Under the former statute, both *In re K.R.* (2018) 20 Cal.App.5th 701, and *In re N.G.* (2018) 27 Cal.App.5th 474, found failure to question extended family members was prejudicial and required reversal. In *In re K.R.*, the record was silent as to the agency's investigative efforts in fulfilling its duty to inquire when it had received information that the dependent child might be an

Indian child. (*In re K.R.*, *supra*, 20 Cal.App.5th at p. 706.) The agency asserted that, because the record was silent as to its investigative efforts, mother's contentions that it should have done more was unsupported by the record and speculative. (*Id.* at p. 708.) The agency argued it had no obligation to document its efforts to contact extended family, and, therefore, mother was unable to meet her burden on appeal, i.e., demonstrate error based on the record. (*Ibid.*)

The *K.R.* court disagreed, explaining ICWA compliance presented a unique situation. (*In re K.R.*, *supra*, 20 Cal.App.5th at p. 708.) The agency cannot omit from its reports any discussion of efforts to locate and interview family members who might have pertinent information and then claim that the sufficiency of its efforts cannot be challenged on appeal because the record is silent. (*Id.*, at p. 709.) Continuing, the court noted the juvenile court cannot assume that, because some information was obtained and relayed to the relevant tribes, the agency necessarily complied fully with its obligations. (*Ibid.*) The court reversed and remanded the matter for the limited purpose of compliance with the directives of ICWA and the California statutes. (*Ibid.*)

Similarly, in *In re N.G.*, *supra*, 27 Cal.App.5th 474, the court rejected the agency's assertion further inquiry was not required because there was not enough information to suggest the minor's paternal lineal ancestors were members of a Cherokee tribe, even though father told the agency he had some paternal cousins who were registered with the Cherokee tribe. (*Id.*, at p.

482.) The court explained the appellate record “plainly suggested *N.G.* may be eligible for membership in a federally recognized Cherokee tribe.” (*Ibid.*) The agency failed to fully investigate the paternal lineal ancestry because it failed to interview all persons who reasonably could have been expected to have identifying information concerning the minor’s paternal lineal ancestors. (*Ibid.*)

Continuing, *N.G.*, explained the record failed to show that the agency asked mother whether the minor may have maternal Indian ancestry or ever asked her to complete an ICWA-010 form, even though the agency was in contact with mother and maternal relatives during the proceedings. (*In re N.G.*, *supra*, 27 Cal.App.5th at p. 482.) The court repeated its holding from *In re K.R.*, *supra*, that the agency cannot omit from its reports any discussion of efforts to locate and interview family members who might have pertinent information and then claim that the sufficiency of its efforts cannot be challenged on appeal because the record is silent. (*In re N.G.*, *supra*, 27 Cal.App.5th at p. 484.) Additionally, the court noted the juvenile court cannot assume that, because some information was obtained and relayed to the relevant tribes, the agency necessarily complied fully with its obligations. (*Ibid.*)

Lastly, noting that, usually, a parent has the burden of demonstrating prejudice, *N.G.* held the absence of an appellate record affirmatively showing the court’s and the agency’s efforts to comply with the ICWA’s inquiry will not, as a general rule, allow the court to conclude that substantial evidence supported

the court's findings that proper ICWA notices were given, or that ICWA did not apply. (*In re N.G.*, *supra*, 27 Cal.App.5th at p. 484.) Instead, as a general rule, where the record does not show what, if any, efforts the agency made to discharge its duty of inquiry, appellant's claims of ICWA error are prejudicial and reversible. (*Ibid.*)

3. The 2006 Legislation Did Not Resolve California's Compliance Problems. A Task Force Was Formed to Find Solutions.

Even though there had been incremental progress after the implementation of the 2006 legislation, systemic compliance problems persisted, and a task force was formed in 2015 to address those issues and frame solutions. (*In re M.M.* (2022) 81 Cal.App.5th 61, 74, Wiley J., dissenting.) As the California ICWA Compliance Task Force ("Task Force") pointed out in its 2017 report to the Attorney General,

[a] common mistake by agencies, county counsels, court-appointed attorneys and the courts themselves is to conflate the issues of: (a) whether ICWA applies [i.e., whether ICWA's substantive provisions apply] and (b) whether notice is required under the ICWA [i.e., whether ICWA's and related state law's procedural provisions apply].

(Cal. ICWA Compliance Task Force, Rep. to Cal. Atty. Gen.'s Bur. of Children's Justice (2017) p. 32 ("Report").)

As Justice Wiley noted in his dissent in *In re M.M.*, *supra*, 81 Cal.App.5th at p. 74, the Report explained "there are a variety of reasons why relying on the parents does not necessarily protect the child's best interests, or the rights of the tribe. Parents may simply not have that information, or may possess only vague or

ambiguous information.” (Report, *supra*, at p. 28, .)

The Task Force urged the Legislature to address the problems caused when child protective agencies neglect to interview extended relatives once a child's parents deny knowledge of Indian ancestry, warning

[w]hen parents are the sole target of the initial inquiry, it should be understood that there are a variety of reasons why relying on the parents does not necessarily protect the child's best interests, or the rights of the tribe. Parents may simply not have that information, or may possess only vague or ambiguous information. [¶] The parents or Indian custodian may be fearful to self-identify, and social workers are ill-equipped to overcome that by explaining the rights a parent or Indian custodian has under the law. Parents may even wish to avoid the tribe's participation or assumption of jurisdiction.

(Report, *supra*, at p. 28, fn. omitted; see also, *In re Ezequiel G.* (2022) 81 Cal.App.5th 984, 1021, Lavin, J. dissenting.)

The Report notes (former) section 224.3,² had been interpreted to limit the inquiry made solely of the parents, and to the extent that it had been so interpreted it should be amended, citing (former) section 224.3, subdivision (b) requiring the agency to ask members of the child’s extended family to provide information about the child’s possible Indian status. (See, Report, *supra*, at p. 27.)

\\

\\

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