S275578

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

In re Dezi C.,
A Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.

LOS ANGELES COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

A.A.,

Defendant and Appellant.

From a Published Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. B317935 Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. 19CCJP08030A-B On Appeal from the Superior Court of Los Angeles County Honorable Robin R. Kesler, Judge Presiding

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

OFFICE OF THE COUNTY COUNSEL
DAWYN R. HARRISON
Interim County Counsel
KIM NEMOY
Assistant County Counsel
STEPHEN WATSON
Senior Deputy County Counsel
State Bar No. 272423

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

Another opinion noted "the pertinent ICWA-related law in California is anything but straightforward," has "no endpoint," is "impossible to satisfy in practice," has a "Byzantine scheme of inquiry, further inquiry, reason to know, and reason to believe that is challenging to even summarize," and is "a real problem." (*In re H.V.* (2022) 75 Cal.App.5th 433, 441 (dis. opn. of Baker, J.), footnotes omitted.)

Another opinion noted "[t]he problem is not going to go away soon" and that "it is hard to understate the havoc, expense, and uncertainty caused by" California's ICWA-related law. (*In re A.C.* (2022) 75 Cal.App.5th 1009, 1019-1020 (dis. opn. of Crandall, J.).)

Still another opinion described section 224.2, subdivision (b), as "practically if not theoretically impossible to satisfy," and argued that the categories people listed in the statute should be read as "examples of the categories of people a social services agency or court should inquire of[.]" (In re A.C. supra, 86 Cal.App.5th at p. 142 (dis. opn. of Baker, J.).)

A new opinion adds to the confusion, questioning all previous interpretations of the California ICWA inquiry requirements, stating those interpretations are "inconsistent with the plain language of the text," and contending the duty to

inquire of extended family members applies only to the limited circumstance where a child is detained pursuant to section 306. (*In re Adrian L.* (2022) 86 Cal.App.5th 342, 353-374 (conc. opn. of Kelley J.).)

The expansive statutory revisions have changed the way appellate courts treat ICWA inquiry error in cases where parents deny having Indian ancestry in the juvenile court but the child welfare agencies do not inquire of extended family members and others. (In re Ezequiel G., supra, 81 Cal.App.5th at p. 999 ["Until recently, Courts of Appeal routinely rejected claims of ICWA error where there was no evidence in the juvenile court record that a child was an Indian child and a parent did not affirmatively assert Indian ancestry on appeal."].) This has resulted in a flood of appeals alleging ICWA inquiry error. (See Dezi C., supra, 79 Cal.App.5th at p. 774 ["This juvenile dependency case presents what is unfortunately becoming a common scenario. . . . Nearly 30 months into the proceedings and on appeal from the termination of her parental rights [mother] is for the first time objecting that the agency did not discharge its statutory duty to 'inquire' of 'extended family members' whether her children might be 'Indian child[ren]"]; In re Ezequiel G., supra, 81 Cal.App.5th at p. 995 ["This juvenile dependency appeal is one of many in an increasingly common posture. There is no evidence in the juvenile court record – which began in 2017 and concluded with the termination of parental rights in 2021 – that the three children at issue in this case are Indian children within the meaning of the [ICWA]"; see also In re A.C., supra, 75

 $CHS.2135353.1 \qquad \qquad 28$

Cal.App.5th at p. 1018 (dis. opn. of Crandall, J.) ["the appellate dockets seem to be burgeoning with such cases"].)

The flood of appeals has resulted in a split of authority. (See *In re J.K.* (2022) 83 Cal.App.5th 498, 512-514 (dis. opn. of Yegan, J.) ["The continuing appellate controversy which is now dominating the advance sheets concerns the [ICWA] and the appropriate standard of appellate review."].)

2. Split Of Authority.

Prior to the *Dezi C*. decision, California's appellate courts had "developed three different rules – at various points along a continuum – for assessing harmlessness" within the context of initial ICWA inquiry. (*Dezi C., supra,* 79 Cal.App.5th at pp. 774, 777-778, citing *In re A.C., supra,* 75 Cal.App.5th at p. 1011 ["recent appellate jurisprudence has adopted a continuum of tests for prejudice stemming from error in following California statutes implementing ICWA"].)

At one end of the continuum is the "automatic reversal rule," which mandates reversal and/or remand in any case where initial inquiry was inadequate. (*Dezi C., supra,* 79 Cal.App.5th at p. 777, citing *In re J.C.* (2022) 77 Cal.App.5th 70, 80-82 [order terminating parental rights remanded for inquiry of extended family members after both parents denied Indian ancestry and did not object to ICWA finding]; *In re Antonio R.* (2022) 76 Cal.App.5th 421, 432-437 [same]; *In re H.V., supra,* 75 Cal.App.5th at p. 438 [remanded for inquiry of extended family members after the mother denied Indian ancestry and did not object to ICWA finding]; *In re Y.W.* (2021) 70 Cal.App.5th 542, 556 [order terminating parental rights remanded for further

cal.App.5th 474, 484-485 [order terminating parental rights reversed and remanded for inquiry of extended family members despite no ICWA objection]; In re K.R. (2018) 20 Cal.App.5th 701, 708-709 [order terminating parental rights reversed and remanded despite no ICWA objection].) "Under this test, reversal is required no matter how 'slim' the odds are that further inquiry on remand might lead to a different ICWA finding by the juvenile court." (Dezi C., supra, 79 Cal.App.5th at p. 777, citing In re Antonio R., supra, 76 Cal.App.5th at p. 435 [inquiry error not harmless despite "slim odds the information in the possession of the extended maternal relatives would show" the child is an Indian child].)

At the other end of the continuum is the "presumptive affirmance rule," which treats initial inquiry error as harmless unless the parent makes a proffer on appeal as to why further inquiry would lead to a different ICWA finding. (*Dezi C., supra,* 79 Cal.App.5th at pp. 777-778, citing *In re A.C., supra,* 65 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1065, 1071; *In re Rebecca R.* (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 1426, 1430-1431.)

The third approach, the "readily obtainable information rule," holds that defective initial inquiry is harmless unless "the record indicates that there was readily obtainable information that was likely to bear meaningfully upon whether the child is an Indian child" and that "the probability of obtaining meaningful information is reasonable." (*Dezi C., supra,* 79 Cal.App.5th at p. 778, citing *In re Benjamin M.* (2021) 70 Cal.App.5th 735, 744; *In*

re A.C., supra, 75 Cal.App.5th at p. 1015; In re S.S. (2022) 75 Cal.App.5th 575, 581-583; In re Darian R. (2022) 75 Cal.App.5th 502, 509-510.)

Dezi C. proposed and applied a fourth approach, the "reason to believe rule," which holds that the "failure to conduct a proper initial inquiry into a dependent child's American Indian heritage is harmless unless the record contains information suggesting a reason to believe that the child may be an 'Indian child' within the meaning of ICWA, such that the absence of further inquiry was prejudicial to the juvenile court's ICWA finding." (Dezi C., supra, 79 Cal.App.5th at p. 779.) "For this purpose, the 'record' includes both the record of proceedings in the juvenile court and any proffer the appealing parent makes on appeal." (Ibid.)

D. Dezi C.'s "Reason To Believe Rule" Should Be Affirmed Because It Is Consistent With Our Constitution, Balances All Of The Interests In Dependency Proceedings, And Focuses On What Is In The Record.

Mother urges this Court to reject *Dezi C*.'s "reason to believe rule." (OBM 48.) But the "reason to believe rule" should be affirmed because it (1) "weaves together the test for harmless error compelled by our State's Constitution" with the "cascading duties of inquiry" that the statute imposes upon child welfare agencies; (2) "best reconciles the competing policies at issue when an ICWA objection is asserted . . . at the final phases of the dependency proceedings;" and (3) "largely sidesteps the 'how can we know what we don't know' and burden of proof conundrums that animate the automatic reversal [rule]" by "focusing on what

is in the record rather than what is not in the record." (*Dezi C.*, supra, 79 Cal.App.5th at pp. 779-782.)

1. Dezi C. Weaves Together The California Constitution's Test For Harmless Error With The "Cascading Duties Of Inquiry" Imposed On Child Welfare Agencies.

The *Dezi C*. court correctly reasoned that because California's test for harmless error is an outcome-focused test, the proper analysis is whether it is reasonably probable that insufficient initial inquiry affected the outcome of the ICWA finding:

Our Constitution specifies that a judgment may not be 'set aside' unless it 'has resulted in a miscarriage of justice' (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13), and our Supreme Court has defined a 'miscarriage of justice' as existing only when 'it is reasonably probable that *a result* more favorable to the appealing party would have been reached in the absence of the error' [citation]. Thus, our state's test for harmlessness is an *outcome*-focused test.

(Dezi C., supra, 79 Cal.App.5th at p. 779.)

With an outcome-focused test in mind, the court observed that the first duty of a child welfare agency under ICWA is the "initial duty" of inquiry pursuant to subdivisions (a), (b), and (c) of section 224.2, which require inquiry of the child's parents, extended family members, and "others." (*Dezi C., supra*, 79 Cal.App.5th at p. 780.) The court then observed that the second duty, the duty to "make further inquiry," is triggered if there is "reason to believe that an Indian child is involved" in the proceedings because the record contains "information . . . suggesting the child is Indian." (*Ibid.*, citing § 224.2, subd. (e); *In*

re D.S., supra, 46 Cal.App.5th at p. 1049.) Applying a step-by-step analysis, the court explained:

Because the governing test for harmlessness is outcome focused, adapting that test to the situation in this case means courts should focus on whether it is reasonably probable that an agency's error in not conducting a proper initial inquiry affected the correctness (that is, the outcome) of the juvenile court's ICWA finding. As noted above, ICWA already provides a standard for assessing whether further inquiry is necessary after an initial inquiry – namely if the initial inquiry provides a reason to believe that the child is an Indian child because the record contains 'information . . . suggesting the child is Indian.' [Citation.] This standard reserves further inquiry for those cases in which such inquiry may affect the juvenile court's ultimate ICWA determination. Because the question before us in assessing harmlessness is also whether further inquiry would affect the juvenile court's ICWA finding, the 'reason to believe' standard is the logical standard to apply.

(Dezi C., supra, 79 Cal.App.5th at p. 781, italics in original.)

Although mother claims the *Dezi C*. court's conclusion regarding the outcome-focused test for harmlessness compelled by our Constitution frustrates the purpose of ICWA (OBM 47), its conclusion is supported by this Court's analysis in *People v*. *Breverman* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 142. In that case, this Court noted that "by the appellate review standards set forth in article VI, section 13 of the California Constitution," reversal is warranted only if an error was "strong enough to affect the *outcome*[.]" (*Id*. at p. 177, italics added.) The Court also noted that a "conviction of the charged offense may be reversed in consequence of this form of error only if, 'after an examination of the entire cause,

including the evidence' (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13), it appears 'reasonably probable' the defendant would have obtained a more favorable *outcome* had the error not occurred [citation]." (*Id.* at p. 178, italics added.) Justice Mosk emphasized the point:

We sometimes inquire . . . whether, under the standard in question, the error had an unfavorable effect on the outcome. [Citations.] At other times, we inquire . . . whether, under the standard in question, a more favorable outcome would have resulted in the absence of the error. [Citations.] [¶] Whether we use one or the other of the two verbal formulas is a matter of rhetorical style and makes no substantial difference – so long as we focus on the fact that prejudice is an unfavorable effect on the outcome. . . . Reversal is required if the error caused prejudice, that is, an unfavorable effect on the outcome.

(*Id.* at p. 185 (dis. opn. of Mosk, J.).)

Thus, *Dezi C.*'s determination that our state's test for harmlessness is outcome-focused was accurate. (*Dezi C.*, *supra*, 79 Cal.App.5th at p. 781.) It follows that *Dezi C.* was also accurate in determining that, under this framework, the pertinent question is whether the error in initial inquiry affected the outcome of the ICWA finding. (*Ibid.*) Because ICWA provides the standard for when further inquiry is necessary after initial inquiry (i.e., if initial inquiry provides "reason to believe" the child is an Indian child), the "reason to believe" harmless error standard is the logical standard to apply because it focuses on what the outcome would have been had initial inquiry been properly performed. (*Ibid.*; see also *In re K.H.* (2022) 84 Cal.App.5th 566, 615 [the reason to believe "rule focuses on information relevant to the next stage in the ICWA compliance

process – a need for further inquiry *if*, based on the record, there is reason to believe the child is an Indian child"].)

The importance of adhering to the outcome-focused test compelled by our Constitution was emphasized in a dissent where the majority had consistently applied the "automatic reversal rule:"

Strict and inflexible ICWA enforcement at the Court of Appeal level strikes at the heart of two basic aspects of the California Constitution: First, the oath of judicial office, which directs justices to 'support and defend' the California Constitution, not a statute. Second, reversal of a superior court judgment only where an error is prejudicial, i.e., where it is reasonably probable that a different result will obtain upon reversal. . . .

The Court of Appeal is tasked to affirm a judgment unless there has been a miscarriage of justice, in which case we reverse. [¶] The oath of judicial office does not say that appellate courts have a duty to support and defend a statute. This is a glaring omission in the oath and the only inference that can be drawn is that the judicial oath of office is not directed to a statute. Of course, we strive to uphold the letter and spirit of a statute. And, we do so in almost every case. But, the Constitution takes precedence over a statute. This is not a novel statement. Any negligent violation of statute in almost any context does not inexorably result in reversal. Such a violation, an error, must be prejudicial within the meaning of the California Constitution to warrant reversal of a judgment.

The Court of Appeal should not continue to slavishly adhere to the ICWA rules at the expense of the California Constitution. There is no ICWA exception to the California Constitution. As indicated, we strive to follow any statute, including the ICWA

statute. And, at least in Division Six of the Second Appellate District, we have always and strictly applied ICWA and reversed upon a showing of 'ICWA error.' That time, for me, is now over. Rather than championing the rights of an Indian tribe, we should be championing the rights of a dependent child.

The prior Court of Appeal opinions, and the majority opinion here, does not solve this administration of justice problem. The new opinion authored by Justice Hoffstadt, *In re Dezi C.*[, *supra,*] 79 Cal.App.5th 769, review granted September 21, 2022, S275578, does solve the problem. This scholarly opinion is consistent with the oath of office, follows the Constitutional mandate of when and when not to reverse a judgment, and is a pragmatic solution for the ICWA issue at the Court of Appeal level. It dictates that we affirm in this case.

(*In re J.K.*, *supra*, 83 Cal.App.5th at pp. 512-514 (dis. opn. of Yegan, J.).)

In cases like *Dezi C*., where the parent or parents deny Indian ancestry in the juvenile court only to raise ICWA error on appeal, the "reason to believe rule" allows the appealing parent to make a proffer in order to demonstrate that the outcome of the ICWA finding was affected. This approach is consistent with the article VI, section 13's requirement that an appellant demonstrate a miscarriage of justice before a judgment or order can be reversed. Accordingly, *Dezi C*. effectively weaves together the California Constitution's test for harmless error with the "cascading duties of inquiry" imposed on child welfare agencies.

11

///

///

///

2. Dezi C. Best Reconciles The Competing Policies At Issue When An ICWA Objection Is Asserted At The Final Phases Of The Dependency Proceedings.

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